Copyright

by

Bryan Thomas Gnade

The Dissertation Committee for Bryan Thomas Gnade Certifies that this is the approved version of the following dissertation:

ANTHRAX TOXIN EFFECTS ON B LYMPHOCYTE FUNCTION

Committee:

Johnny W. Peterson, Ph.D. Supervisor

Ashok K. Chopra, Ph.D, C.Sc. Co-Supervisor

Rolf Konig, Ph.D.

Gustavo Valbuena, M.D., Ph.D.

David Craft, Ph.D.

Dean, Graduate School

ANTHRAX TOXIN EFFECTS ON B LYMPHOCYTE FUNCTION

by

Bryan Thomas Gnade, M.S.

Dissertation

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

The University of Texas Medical Branch

in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Texas Medical Branch January, 2010

For My Mother

Acknowledgements

I thank the members of my committee, Drs. Johnny Peterson, Ashok Chopra, Rolf Konig, Gustavo Valbuena, and David Craft. They have offered their critical insight and expertise that enabled me to complete this work. I would also like to thank the Peterson laboratory for their help and camaraderie. I sincerely thank Martha Lewis for her help navigating through this process. I also thank the U.S. Army for allowing me this opportunity. I also thank my family and friends who have endured this process with me.

ANTHRAX TOXIN EFFECTS ON B LYMPHOCYTE FUNCTION

Publication No.

Bryan Thomas Gnade, Ph.D.

The University of Texas Medical Branch, 2009

Supervisor: Johnny W. Peterson

Bacillus anthracis is a gram-positive spore-forming rod capable of causing cutaneous, gastrointestinal and inhalational anthrax. It has a number of virulence factors of which, the two toxins are of great importance. Lethal toxin is a zinc metaloprotease that cleaves the N terminus of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) kinase family 1-7, with the exception of MEK5. This kinase family is responsible for activating the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade. This cascade includes extracellular signal-regulated protein kinases (ERK), c-Jun NH₂-terminal kinases (JNK) and p38 kinases. The disruption of these signaling pathways has a number of deleterious downstream effects that vary by cell type. Edema factor is a powerful calmodulindependent adenylyl cyclase that forms 3',5'-adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) from adenosine triphosphate (ATP). This enzymatic reaction causes an increase in intracellular cyclic AMP (cAMP) in host cells. As cAMP is a prominent second messenger in cellular signaling, edema toxin has a wide array of effects on numerous cell types and functions.

To determine the effects of the anthrax toxins on the adaptive immune response, B lymphocytes were exposed to LeTx or EdTx *in vitro*. LeTx and EdTx both inhibit B cell activation in different manners. LeTx inhibited B cell proliferation but not migration, while EdTx inhibited B cell migration but not proliferation. LeTx and EdTx altered expression patterns of B cell activation markers. EdTx inhibited MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β while enhancing IL-6 production. Previously unseen in any cell type EdTx was demonstrated to be cytotoxic to naïve B cells.

The research presented in this report illustrates the inhibitory effects of LeTx and EdTx on B lymphocytes, providing valuable insight into the immunoevasion tactics of B. *anthracis*.

Table of Contents

LIST OF TABLES	. IX
LIST OF FIGURES	X
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 HISTORY	1
1.2 THE BACTERIA	3
1.3 EPIDEMIOLOGY	3
1.4 HUMAN DISEASE	4
1.5 TREATMENT AND PROPHYLAXIS	5
1.6 VIRULENCE FACTORS	7
1.6.1 Capsule	7
1.6.2 Lethal Toxin	8
1.6.3 Edema Toxin	9
1.7 TOXIN EFFECT ON IMMUNE CELLS	9
1.7.1 Innate Immune Cells	9
1.7.2 Adaptive Immune Response	11
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS	13
2.1 Isolation of B lymphocytes	13
2.2 In vitro exposure to toxins	13
2.3 Cyclic AMP assay	14
2.4 Cell proliferation assay	15
2.5 Cytokine and chemokine assay	16
2.6 Migration assay	16
2.7 Surface staining	17
CHAPTER 3: DIRECT INHIBITION OF B LYMPOCYTE FUNCTION	BY 18
3.1 Anthrax EdTx but not LeTx lethal to murine B lymphocytes in vitro	18
3.2 cAMP levels in EdTx treated B lymphocytes	21

3.3 Activation markers on EdTx- and LeTx-treated naïve B lymphocytes are altered
3.4 Activation markers on anti-CD40/IL4 stimulated, toxin-treated B lymphocytes are altered
3.5 Activation markers on anti-IgM stimulated, toxin-treated B lymphocytes are altered
3.6 Activation markers on LPS-stimulated, toxin-treated B lymphocytes are altered
3.7 Anthrax EdTx but not LeTx inhibits B lymphocyte migration
3.8 Anthrax LeTx impairs B lymphocyte proliferation53
3.9 Anthrax toxins alter cytokine secretion in stimulated B lymphocytes55
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS
References (Heading 2,h2 style: TOC 2)
Vita (Heading 2,h2 style: TOC 2)

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1:	Summary of surface expression of activation markers on toxin-		
	treated B lymphocytes	58	
Table 3.2:	Summary of toxin effects on B cell function.	59	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1:	Anthrax toxin effects on B lymphocyte Viability19
Figure 3.2:	Toxicity of EdTx on naïve murine B lymphocytes20
Figure 3.3:	Cyclic AMP production in edema toxin-treated murine ,aïve B
	lymphocytes21
Figure 3.4:	CD86 expression on toxin treated naïve B lymphocytes23
Figure 3.5:	CD69 expression on anthrax toxin-treated naïve B lymphocytes24
Figure 3.6:	CD23 expression on anthrax toxin-treated naïve B lymphocytes25
Figure 3.7:	MHCII expression on anthrax toxin-treated naïve B lymphocytes .26
Figure 3.8:	CD86 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-CD40/IL-4-stimulated B
	lymphocytes
Figure 3.9:	CD69 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-CD40/IL-4-stimulated B
	lymphocytes
Figure 3.10:	CD23 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-CD40/IL-4-stimulated B
	lymphocytes
Figure 3.11:	MHCII expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-CD40/IL-4-stimulated
	B lymphocytes
Figure 3.12:	CD86 expression on toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B lymphocytes
Figure 3.13:	CD69 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B
	lymphocytes
Figure 3.14:	CD23 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B
	lymphocytes

Figure 3.15:	MHCII expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B	
	lymphocytes	.36
Figure 3.16:	CD86 expression on toxin-treated LPS-stimulated B lymphocyte	.38
Figure 3.17:	CD69 expression on anthrax toxin-treated LPS-stimulated B	
	lymphocytes	.39
Figure 3.18:	CD23 expression on anthrax toxin-treated LPS-stimulated B	
	lymphocytes	.40
Figure 3.19:	MHCII expression on anthrax toxin-treated LPS-stimulated B	
	lymphocytes	.41
Figure 3.20:	Migration of EdTx-treated naïve murine B lymphocytes	.43
Figure 3.21:	CCR7 expression on toxin-treated Naïve B lymphocytes	.45
Figure 3.22:	CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-CD40/IL-4-stimula	ated B
	lymphocytes	.46
Figure 3.23:	lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B	.46
Figure 3.23:	lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B lymphocytes	.46 .47
Figure 3.23: Figure 3.24:	lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated LPS-stimulated B	.46 .47
Figure 3.23: Figure 3.24:	lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated LPS-stimulated B lymphocytes	.46 .47 .48
Figure 3.23: Figure 3.24: Figure 3.25:	lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated LPS-stimulated B lymphocytes CXCR5 expression in toxin-treated naïve B lymphocytes	.46 .47 .48 .49
Figure 3.23: Figure 3.24: Figure 3.25: Figure 3.26:	lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated LPS-stimulated B lymphocytes CXCR5 expression in toxin-treated naïve B lymphocytes CXCR5 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-CD40/IL-4-stimu	.46 .47 .48 .49 ılated
Figure 3.23: Figure 3.24: Figure 3.25: Figure 3.26:	lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated LPS-stimulated B lymphocytes CXCR5 expression in toxin-treated naïve B lymphocytes CXCR5 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-CD40/IL-4-stimu B lymphocytes	.46 .47 .48 .49 ılated .50
Figure 3.23: Figure 3.24: Figure 3.25: Figure 3.26: Figure 3.27:	lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated LPS-stimulated B lymphocytes CXCR5 expression in toxin-treated naïve B lymphocytes CXCR5 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-CD40/IL-4-stimu B lymphocytes CXCR5 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated F	.46 .47 .48 .49 ilated .50 3
Figure 3.23: Figure 3.24: Figure 3.25: Figure 3.26: Figure 3.27:	lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated LPS-stimulated B lymphocytes CXCR5 expression in toxin-treated naïve B lymphocytes CXCR5 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-CD40/IL-4-stimu B lymphocytes CXCR5 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated F lymphocytes	.46 .47 .48 .49 ilated .50 3 .51
Figure 3.23: Figure 3.24: Figure 3.25: Figure 3.26: Figure 3.27: Figure 3.28:	lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B lymphocytes CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated LPS-stimulated B lymphocytes CXCR5 expression in toxin-treated naïve B lymphocytes CXCR5 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-CD40/IL-4-stimu B lymphocytes CXCR5 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B lymphocytes	.46 .47 .48 .49 ulated 50 3 51

Figure 3.29: Anthrax toxins effect on B lymphocyte proliferation	.54
Figure 3.30: Edema toxin effect on chemokine production in stimulated B	
lymphocytes	.56
Figure 3.31: IL6 production in edema toxin-treated stimulated B lymphocytes	.57

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 History

Bacillus anthracis is a gram-positive, spore-forming, non-motile bacillus [1]. Typically a zoonotic disease, anthrax is associated with herbivores such as goats, sheep, and cattle. The bacteria and its resultant disease, anthrax, have a long association with man, dating from biblical plagues through Robert Koch and the very beginnings of microbiology to present day. It is postulated that the fifth and sixth plagues mentioned in Exodus were anthrax [2]. The poet Virgil is believed to have described anthrax in the third book of Georgics [3]. Bacillus anthracis as the bacterial cause of anthrax was first established by Robert Koch in 1876 [2-4]. The first identified cases of human inhalational infection with *Bacillus anthracis* occurred in the wool sorting industry in 19th century England. This disease, known as "Wool sorters disease", was first linked to the bacteria that both Koch and Pasteur had identified as the cause of anthrax by Dr. J. H. Bell in 1879 [4]. This was as a result of processing contaminated goat hair and alpaca wool imported from India and is believed to be the origin of the bacteria in England. The first effective live vaccine was developed against anthrax by Louis Pasteur in 1881. The cutaneous form of the disease is the most common and is associated with those working closely with infected animals or animal products.

The development of *B. anthracis* as a bioweapon dates back to World War I when German agents in the U.S. injected horses bound for Europe with the bacteria. Numerous countries had begun such biowarfare programs by World War II, including the Japanese in Manchuria, and even the British, who tested methods for dispersal of spores on Gruinard Island off Scotland. The resulting quarantine of the island for nearly 50 years is a testament to the persistence of the spores and their usefulness for denying territory to adversaries. The USA had an active bioweapons program from WWII until 1969 when President Richard Nixon ended it. The drafting of international treaties banning the use of biological weapons, such as the International Biological Weapons Convention, has been ineffective in preventing rogue states from continuing these programs as evidenced by the admission of such programs by Iraq in 1995, while it is believed many more operate such programs [5, 6]. The largest known release of *B. anthracis* occurred in The Soviet Union in 1979 [7-9]. The accidental release at a bioweapons facility in Sverdlosk resulted in 96 casualties. Most recently, in 2001 anthrax was released in an episode of domestic terrorism via the US Postal Service resulting in 22 cases of anthrax, 11 inhalational and 11 cutaneous. Of the 11 inhalational cases five were fatal even with medical treatment [10]. This high mortality despite antibiotic therapy and the efforts of the medical community spurred a renewed interest in anthrax research.

1.2 The Bacteria

A Gram-positive bacillus, *Bacillus anthracis* is capable of surviving in unfavorable environments by the formation of a spore. In favorable conditions the cells grow in long chains and form distinctive colonies on agar surfaces. These colonies are opaque with a ground glass appearance with rough outer edges and are nonhemolytic on sheep blood agar. In unfavorable conditions the cells form a spore that is very hardy and capable of surviving for many years in the environment. It is positively identified by lysis by gamma-phage [11].

1.3 Epidemiology

Anthrax, the disease caused by *B. anthracis*, occurs on every continent but Antarctica with the disease considered endemic in South America, Asia and Africa. Occasional outbreaks occur in North America and Europe and rarely in Australia. These outbreaks usually occur in summer months or during dry periods with high temperatures that follow periods of heavy rain. The most recent outbreak in Australia occurred in 2007 in New South Whales [12]. The previous outbreak in the region dates back to 1939, which may indicate possible dormancy of spores for greater than 60 years. A massive outbreak occurred in a wildlife reserve in Zimbabwe in 2004 [13]. Alberta Canada experienced an outbreak in 1999 that resulted in the death of 29 cattle and one horse [14]. In the United States significant outbreaks in cattle occurred in North and South Dakota, Minnesota and Texas in the summer of 2005.

Human infections occur sporadically, usually associated with contact with infected animal products. An estimated 100,000 cases of human anthrax occur each year worldwide. An outbreak in Thailand that included both oropharyngeal and cutaneous anthrax occurred in 1984 when undercooked meat from cattle and water buffaloes were brought in from Burma [15]. Over 6,000 cases of cutaneous anthrax occurred in Zimbabwe in 1979-1980 [16]. Twenty five cases were reported in Paraguay in 1987 [17]. Three fatal cases were reported in France in 1997 [18]. The number of cases in the United States has decreased to an average of one case per year since 1980 due to the use of the veterinary vaccine, which concomitantly decreased the number of animal cases.

1.4 Human Disease

Anthrax occurs in four forms dependent on the route of infection. These forms include cutaneous, gastrointestinal, oropharyngeal and inhalational. Cutaneous anthrax is the most common form of the disease accounting for 95% of all cases [19]. A vesicle containing serosanguineous fluid forms at the site of infection. The vesicle then ruptures forming a painless necrotic ulcer. This ulcer becomes a black eschar which suppurates after 2-3 weeks leaving an eschar. This black eschar is believed to be the reason for the

name anthrax, which is the Greek word for coal. Untreated, cutaneous anthrax can result in 10 to 20% mortality, however, with treatment mortality falls to less than 1% [19].

Oropharyngeal and gastrointestinal anthrax result from ingestion of contaminated meat. The incubation period for gastrointestinal anthrax is 2-5 days. Ulcerative lesions form from the oral cavity to the cecum resulting in a high mortality of up to 50% [20]. The oropharyngeal and gastrointestinal forms of anthrax form are very rare.

Inhalational anthrax occurs as a result of inhaling aerosolized *B. anthracis* spores. Historically, this has occurred when animal hides or sheep's wool, contaminated with anthrax spores, were processed, hence, the name "wool sorters disease." However, the accidental release of anthrax spores from a biological weapons factory in Sverdlosk in 1979, as well as the intentional release of anthrax spores in the mail in 2001, has garnered much attention for this form of the disease. The 2001 release resulted in a mortality rate of 45% despite antibiotic treatment. The incubation period for this form of the disease is usually 1-6 days and results in early non-specific "flu-like" symptoms including fever, malaise, fatigue, and myalgia [21-23]. These early sequelae are followed by dispnea, cyanosis chest pain and stridor. X-rays reveal widening of the mediastinum and pleural effusion. Delay of treatment until the onset of symptoms greatly reduces the prognosis.

1.5 Treatment and Prophylaxis

Most environmental and clinical isolates of *B. anthracis* are susceptible to numerous antibiotics including the penicillins, tetracyclines, and the fluoroquinolones;

however, spontaneous resistance to multiple antibiotics in *B. anthracis* was easily demonstrated in the literature [24]. The choice of antibiotic for clinical use is dependent on the suspected route of infection. Cutaneous anthrax may be treated with amoxicillin, if no aerosol is suspected. Inhalational, gastrointestinal and oropharyngeal should be treated with multiple intravenous antibiotics. Ciprofloxicin is the drug of choice for inhalational anthrax and is the drug kept in the national stockpile; however, numerous other antibiotics have been shown to be effective in animal models. Prophylactic treatment with antibiotics before onset of symptoms greatly enhances the prognosis and may be combined with administration of the anthrax vaccine. Currently, there is only one anthrax vaccine licensed for use in the United States, Anthrax Vaccine Adsorbed (Biothrax) produced by Emergent Biosolutions (formerly BioPort) in Gaithersburg, MD. The vaccine consists of sterile filtrate of an unencapsulated strain of *B. anthracis* adsorbed to aluminum hydroxide. The predominant immunogen in the vaccine is protective antigen (PA); however, some lots contain small amounts of lethal factor (LF) and edema factor (EF) [4]. The vaccine is recommended for industrial workers that may come in contact with contaminated animal products, and laboratory workers conducting research on the Ames strain. Military personnel are vaccinated to protect them against the threat of anthrax use as a bioweapon.

1.6 Virulence Factors

A number of virulence factors have been identified in *B. anthracis* infection. The most important virulence factors are lethal toxin (LeTx) and edema toxin (EdTx) encoded on the pXO1 plasmid and a poly-D-glutamic acid capsule synthesis gene encoded on pXO2. The production of the protein toxins is regulated by *atxA* located on pXO1, while induction of the capsule synthesis gene is regulated by *acpA* on pXO2. The expression of these genes is regulated by temperature and bicarbonate, and an additional level of control is imposed by the gene *abrB* which limits induction of the toxin genes while the bacteria are in the logarithmic phase of growth [25].

1.6.1 Capsule

The capsule is antiphagocytic and poorly immunogenic and is required for dissemination from the lungs to other areas of the body. The capsule is needed for virulence in humans and strains of the bacteria that have been cured of the pX02 plasmid are considered to be attenuated [26, 27]. In fact, the former Soviet Union uses an attenuated unencapsulated strain as a live vaccine in humans. Likewise, pX02-deficient strains are not considered to be select agents by CDC.

1.62 Lethal Toxin

The presence of anthrax toxin was first demonstrated in 1954 [28]. The exotoxins, lethal toxin in particular, have been studied extensively. Both toxins are AB toxins, made up of two components, an active-component and a receptor binding component. In both toxins, the receptor-binding component (PA) attaches the complex to the host cell receptors Tumor Endothelial Marker 8 (TEM8) or Capillary Morphogenesis Gene-2 (CMG2) [29, 30]. These two host cell receptors seem to be ubiquitously present on different immune cell types. After binding to the cell membrane, they are then cleaved by furin, a host cell protease[31]. Once modified, the PA molecules form a heptamer which forms a pore aiding in delivery of the active component. Heptamerization results in endocytosis of the PA heptamer, and the acidic pH of the endosomes enables EF or LF to pass through the pore into the host cell cytosol [33].

Lethal toxin's active component is lethal factor, a zinc metaloprotease which cleaves the N terminus of the mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MAPKK) family of proteins (1-7) with the exception of MEK5 [34-37]. These MAPKK proteins are responsible for activating the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade. This cascade includes extracellular signal-regulated protein kinases (ERK), c-Jun NH2terminal kinases (JNK), and p38 kinases. The disruption of these signaling pathways has a number of deleterious downstream effects that vary by cell type.

1.6.3 Edema Toxin

Edema toxin, which utilizes the same PA tissue receptor-binding component as lethal toxin, delivers a different active component, edema factor. Edema factor is a powerful calmodulin-dependent adenylyl cyclase which forms 3',5'-adenosine monophosphate, or cyclic AMP (cAMP) from adenosine triphosphate (ATP). This results in an increase in intracellular cAMP in host cells [38]. Since cAMP is a prominent second messenger in cellular signaling, edema toxin has a wide array of effects on numerous cell types and functions.

1.7 Toxin Effect on Immune cells

1.7.1 Innate Immune Cells

B. anthracis toxins aid in immune evasion by interfering with the immune response. Anthrax toxins have been shown to affect a wide range of cell types including those of both the innate and adaptive immune defenses. Innate defense cell types affected by anthrax toxins include macrophages, monocytes, polymorphonuclear cells and dendritic cells.

The macrophage was implicated as a key player early on in the study of the disease. The toxin effects on macrophages have been studied extensively. Lethal toxin

has been shown to induce apoptosis in murine macrophages in a strain-dependent manner [39, 40]. This strain-dependent effect has been shown to be associated with polymorphism in the NALP1b locus, implicating another mechanism other than MAPKK cleavage which occurs in both LeTx-sensitive and resistant strains of mice [41]. Both LeTx and EdTx have been shown to inhibit pro-inflammatory cytokine production [34, 40, 42-44]. Additionally, LeTx has been shown to inhibit NF-κB and interferon regulatory factor (IRF)-3, both vital to pro-inflammatory cytokine expression [40, 45, 46]. Both lethal toxin and edema toxin have been shown to impair macrophage chemotaxis [47, 48].

Polymorphonuclear (PMNs) cells have also been shown to be impaired by both EdTx and LeTx. In these cells, both toxins inhibit the oxidative burst response [49]. EdTx has been shown to impair phagocytosis by PMNs, while LeTx has been shown to impair PMN actin-based motility [50, 51].

Dendritic cells (DC), largely ignored until recently, have been shown to have a similar role as the macrophage in disease progression. LeTx has been shown to have effects on DCs similar to those seen in macrophages [52, 53]. They display the same strain-specific LeTx-induced apoptosis in the DC as seen in macrophages [52, 53]. However, LT has been shown to kill resistant DC strains in a caspase-1 independent manner. LeTx impairs pro-inflammatory cytokines, TNF- α and IL-6, in LPS-stimulated murine DCs [54]. Similar results have been observed in human DCs [55, 56]. Additionally, LPS-induced activation markers CD40, CD86 and CD80 are down

regulated by LeTx [54]. EdTx has also been shown to impair DC production of IL-12p70 and TNF- α secretion in infected DC cultures while LeTx inhibits IL-10 and TNF- α [57].

1.7.2 Adaptive Immune Response

While the effects of the toxins on innate immunity are of considerable importance during acute infection, the effect of both toxins on the adaptive immune response has been shown to be considerable in T lymphocytes. It has been demonstrated that neither EdTx or LeTx affect T cell viability in Jurkat cells, an immortalized T cell line [58]. However, the same study showed impaired activation and proliferation of both LeTx- and EdTx-treated T-cells. This impairment included the inhibition of CD25 and CD69 [58]. Fang *et al.* showed that MAPK kinase dependent IL-2 production was inhibited in LT treated human CD4⁺ T-cells *in vitro* [59]. Similar results were discovered in a more comprehensive study utilizing primary murine T-cells [60]. Additionally, it was shown that CD4⁺ T-cells from mice injected with LeTx and to a lesser extent EdTx had decreased cytokine production after stimulation of T-cell receptor (TCR) by anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 [60]. T-cells of LeTx-injected mice had decreased phosphorylation of kinases in the MAPK pathway involved in T-cell activation including ERK1/2, p38 and ATF-2 [60]. Additionally, AKT of the serine threonine pathway was inhibited, as well as GSK-3 [60]. EdTx had little or no effect on these signaling pathways [60]. Paccani et al.

showed that CXCR4-mediated T-cell chemotaxis was impaired by both LeTx and EdTx [47].

The anthrax toxin effect on B lymphocytes remains one of the least examined potential mechanisms of immune evasion that *B. anthracis* harbors. Fang *et al.* demonstrated that LeTx was not lethal for B lymphocytes but did cleave MEK-1 and 2 in PAM- and LPS-stimulated B lymphocytes [61]. Phosphorylation of ERK, JNK and p38 in PAM-stimulated B lymphocytes was impaired by LeTx [61]. IgM production and proliferation of stimulated B lymphocytes was also significantly impaired in LeTx-treated B lymphocytes [61]. This study demonstrated that B lymphocytes were indeed targets of LeTx, but a number of B cell functions were left unexamined, while the effects of EdTx on B lymphocytes were not examined at all.

A number of B cell functions are important for the adaptive immune response to be effective. B cell migration is vital for B cell - T cell interactions. B cell activation is an important step in the adaptive immune response. A number of different cytokines and chemokines are produced by B cells contributing to both the innate and adaptive immune response. Clonal expansion is another B cell function vital to an effective B cell response to antigen. Determining the effects that these toxins have on B cells is important in our understanding of the overall mechanism by which *B. anthracis* evades the immune system. The subject of this dissertation was focused on testing the hypothesis that <u>B cell</u> <u>function is directly impaired by anthrax toxins.</u>

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1 Isolation of B lymphocytes

Spleens were collected from 8-12 week old female BALB/c mice (Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbor, ME) after humane euthanization. Spleens were pressed through a 70 µm cell strainer (BD Falcon, Bedford, MA) to achieve a single cell suspension. Red blood cells were lysed using Red blood cell lysing buffer (Sigma, St. Louis, MO). The remaining lymphocytes were processed to negatively select untouched resting B lymphocytes using a B cell isolation kit (Miltenyi Biotec, Auburn, CA), and the autoMACS separator magnetic cell sorter (Miltenyi Biotec, Auburn, CA). Purified resting B lymphocytes were suspended in complete RPMI 1640 (GIBCO, Carlsbad, CA) containing 10% Fetal bovine serum (HyClone, Logan, UT), 100 µg/ml penicillin and streptomycin (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), 1 mM sodium pyruvate (Sigma, Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and 50 µM 2-ME (Sigma, St. Louis, MO).

2.2 In vitro exposure to toxins

Direct effects of the anthrax toxins on murine B lymphocytes were determined by incubating purified resting B lymphocytes with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA with 1.0 μ g/ml EF

and/or 1.0 μ g/ml LF or PA, LF or EF alone. B cell viability was measured using propidium iodide (PI) staining (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). Cells were seeded into 48 well plates at a concentration of 1×10^6 /ml and exposed to toxins for 1, 4, 8, 12, and 24 h. Each 100 μ l aliquot of cells was washed twice with sterile PBS and resuspended in 100 μ l of staining buffer (PBS with 1% FBS). PI was added to reach a final concentration of 1 μ g/ml and incubated for 10 min. at room temperature. Staining buffer was added to reach a final volume of 400 μ l, and samples were analyzed by flow cytometry on the FACSCanto (Beckton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ) for PI staining.

2.3 cyclic AMP assay

Intracellular cyclic AMP was determined by Enzyme Immunoassay. The murine splenic resting B lymphocytes were plated at a concentration of 5×10^5 cells/200µl RPMI in 96-well tissue culture plates (Costar, Corning, NY). After the experimental treatments were set up, assay plates were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 1, 4, 12, and 24 hours. Plates were centrifuged at 600 xg for 10 minutes and supernatants were removed. Cells were lysed with 200µl 0.1N HCl for 10 minutes. Plates were centrifuged again and supernatants were harvested. Subsequently, cAMP was measured by a Direct Cyclic AMP Enzyme Immunoassay Kit (Assay Designs, Ann Arbor, MI) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.4 Cell proliferation assays

The effect of anthrax toxins on B lymphocyte proliferation was determined using the CellTrace CFSE Cell Proliferation Kit (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR). Resting B lymphocytes were washed twice with staining buffer and resuspended at a concentration of 2 x 10^7 cells/ml. An equal volume of 2.5µM CFSE was added to the cell suspension and mixed thoroughly. Cells were incubated at room temperature for 10 min in the dark. Cells were then washed and resuspended at $2x10^7$ cells/ml in complete RPMI 1640 and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 30 min. Cells were then washed and resuspended at $4x10^5$ cells/ml in complete RPMI 1640. Cells were then plated 1 ml per well in 24-well tissue culture plates (Corning, Corning, NY). Cells were then exposed to the anthrax toxins or components for 4 hours and reacted with 5 µg/ml anti-CD40 antibody (eBioscience, San Diego, CA) and 5 ng/ml IL-4 (eBioscience, San Diego, CA) and allowed to incubate for 72, 96, or 120 hours. Cells were stained with PI and analyzed using the FACSCanto (Beckton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ), gating on forward and side scatter and PI negative for live cells. The results were analyzed using FCS Express V3 cell proliferation analysis software (DeNovo Software, Los Angeles, CA).

2.5 Cytokine and Chemokine assays

Murine resting B lymphocytes were treated with toxins or media alone for 4 hours and stimulated with 5 µg/ml anti-IgM, 5 µg/ml anti-CD40 or 5 ng/ml IL-4 for 48 h. Supernatants were collected and Eotaxin, G-CSF, IFN γ , IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-7, IL-9, IL-10, IL-12(p40), TNF α , IL-12(p70), IL-13, IL-15, IL-17, IP-10, KC, LIF, LIX, MCP-1, M-CSF, , MIG, MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , MIP-2, RANTES, and VEGF were measured using a 32-plex cytokine assay (Millipore, Billerica, MA) according to manufacturer's instructions.

2.6 Migration Assay

Resting B lymphocytes were treated with the anthrax toxins as described and seeded at 5×10^5 cells per 100 µl in the upper well of a 24 well, 5 µm transwell filter chamber (Corning, Corning, NY. A volume of 600 µl of medium alone or with 1 µg/ml BCA-1 (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) or MIP-3β (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) was added to the lower chamber, and the cells were incubated at 37°C for 3 hours. Subsequently, cells in the lower chamber were counted using a hemocytometer, and the percent migration was calculated as (migrated cells*100/input cells). Specific migration was calculated as percent chemokine migration minus percent control migration.

2.7 Surface staining

Resting B lymphocytes were treated and stimulated as described. For surface staining, cells were washed twice with staining buffer and resuspended at $2x10^7$ cells/ml in staining buffer and incubated with 0.5 µg of anti-CD16/32 per million cells for 10 minutes at 4°C. Cells were then stained with fluorochrome-labeled antibodies for 20 minutes in the dark at 4°C. Antibodies used included, CD45R, CD69, CD86, MHCII, CD23, CCR7 (eBioscience, San Diego, CA), and CXCR5 (BD Bioscience, San Jose, CA). Fluorochromes used were PE, FITC, PE Cy5, APC, and PE Cy7. Cells were washed three times with staining buffer and resuspended in 500 µl of staining buffer with PI or 7-AAD added, and the cells were analyzed on the FACSCanto (Beckton Dickinson, Great Lakes, NJ). Viable cells were distinguished using forward and side scatter and propidium iodide or 7AAD.

Chapter 3: Direct Inhibition of B lymphocyte function by anthrax toxins.

3.1 Anthrax EdTx but not LeTx is lethal to murine B lymphocytes in vitro

To determine the effects of anthrax toxins on B lymphocyte viability, B lymphocytes were isolated from mouse spleens using antibody-conjugated magnetic beads to negatively select for B lymphocytes. B lymphocytes were treated with LeTx, EdTx, LeTx plus EdTx, PA alone, LF alone, EF alone or media only for 4, 8, and 24 h. Toxin-mediated cell death was measured by Annexin V and Propidium Iodide staining with Annexin V⁻/PI⁻ being healthy cells, Annexin V⁺/PI⁻ being apoptotic and Annexin V⁺/PI⁺ being necrotic. We saw no significant change in the percentage of healthy cells between control and LeTx-treated cells. There was a noticeable decrease in the percentage of healthy cells in the EdTx group as early as 8 h with the difference more dramatic by 24 h (**Figure 3.1**). The edema toxin-mediated cell death was observed to be dose and time dependent with a significant increase in naïve B cell killing at an EdTx concentration as low as 10 ng/ml (P<0.05) (**Figure 3.2**).



Annexin V

Figure 3.1 Anthrax toxin effects on B lymphocyte Viability. Naïve B lymphocytes were treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF or EF and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 4, 8, and 24h. Viability was assessed using Annexin V and PI staining with at least 30,000 events recorded per group. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.2 Toxicity of EdTx on naïve Murine B lymphocytes. Naïve Balb/c B lymphocytes were incubated with various concentrations of EdTx consisting of a ratio of PA to EF of 2.5:1. After 24 h incubation at 37°C and 5% CO₂, Survival was measured by PI staining of cells and read on a flow cytometer. The line represents the mean of triplicate values \pm standard error. The data are from one experiment and are representative of three independent experiments. Asterisks denote a statistically significant difference between untreated and edema toxin-treated cells (p<0.05 by the Dunnett's test).

To determine if EdTx, a potent adenylyl cyclase, was able to enter B lymphocytes, we exposed murine splenic B lymphocytes to EdTx for 1, 4, 8, 12, and 24 h. EdTx treatment resulted in significant increases in cAMP over controls at all time points, peaking at 12 hours after exposure (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3 Cyclic AMP production in Edema Toxin treated Murine Naïve B lymphocytes. Murine naïve B lymphocytes were treated with media, 1µg/ml edema factor and 2.5µg/ml of protective antigen or protective antigen alone for 1, 4, 12 and 24 hours. After indicated incubation times, intracellular cyclic AMP was measured using an enzyme immunoassay. The line represents the mean of triplicate values ± standard error. The data are from one experiment and are representative of three independent experiments. Asterisks denote a statistically significant difference between untreated and edema toxin treated cells (p<0.05 by the Student's t-test).

3.3 Activation markers are altered on EdTx and LeTx- treated naïve B lymphocytes.

To determine the effects of EdTx and LeTx on naïve B cell activation markers, murine naïve B lymphocytes were incubated for 24 h with 2.5 µg/ml of PA and 1.0 µg/ml of EF, LF or both. Surface expression of activation markers was measured by staining cells with fluorochrome-labeled antibodies to CD86, CD69, CD23 and MHCII, and the cells were analyzed on a flow cytometer. Cells were gated on forward- and side-scatter to eliminate dead cells and cell debris. Edema toxin treatment alone resulted in higher CD86 expression in live gated cells while LT had no effect (Figure 3.4). Neither EdTx nor LeTx had any perceptible effect on CD69 surface expression (Figure 3.5). Both EdTx and LeTx decreased CD23 surface marker expression on naïve B cells (Figure 3.6). EdTx increased MHCII surface marker expression, while LeTx had no effect (Figure 3.7).



Figure 3.4 CD86 expression on toxin-treated naïve B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF, and LF during incubation at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 24h. CD86 expression was measured using flow cytometry (solid black line). Shaded area is the isotype control. The inserted numbers indicate median fluorescence intensity. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.5 CD69 expression on naïve B lymphocytes exposed to anthrax toxin proteins. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and exposed to 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 24h. CD69 expression was measured using flow cytometry (solid black line). Shaded area is the isotype control. The inserted numbers indicate median fluorescence intensity. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.


Figure 3.6 CD23 expression on naïve B lymphocytes exposed to anthrax toxin proteins. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5%CO₂ for 24h. CD23 expression was measured using flow cytometry (solid black line). Shaded area is the isotype control. The inserted numbers indicate median fluorescence intensity. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.7 MHCII expression on naïve B lymphocytes exposed to anthrax toxin proteins. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 24h. CD86 expression was measured using flow cytometry (solid black line). Shaded area is the isotype control. The inserted numbers indicate median fluorescence intensity. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.

3.4 Activation markers are altered on anti-CD40/IL-4 stimulated, toxin-treated B lymphocytes.

To determine the effects of EdTx and LeTx on T cell-mediated B lymphocyte activation, naïve B cells were exposed to 2.5 µg/ml of PA and 1.0 µg/ml of EF, LF or both, and incubated 4 h. Cells were then stimulated with 5 µg/ml of anti-CD40 antibody and 5 ng/ml of IL-4. Surface expression of activation markers was measured by staining cells with fluorochrome-labeled antibodies to CD86, CD69, CD23, and MHCII, and then the cells were analyzed on a flow cytometer. Cells were gated on forward- and side-scatter to eliminate dead cells and cell debris. Edema toxin treatment resulted in an increase in CD86 surface expression, while LeTx had no effect (**Figure 3.8**). CD69 expression was not affected by EdTx but its production was impaired by LeTx (**Figure 3.9**). Neither EdTx nor LeTx had any perceptible effect on CD23 surface expression (**Figure 3.10**). Both EdTx and LeTx treatment resulted in a decrease in MHCII expression in stimulated B cells (**Figure 3.11**).



Figure 3.8 CD86 expression on anti-CD40/IL-4-stimulated murine B lymphocytes exposed to anthrax toxin proteins. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4h. Cells were then stimulated with 5 μ g/ml anti-CD40 and 5ng/ml IL4. After 24h, cells were stained with fluorochrome-labeled anti-CD86. Then, CD86 expression was measured using flow cytometry (solid black line). The shaded area is the isotype control. The inserted numbers indicate median fluorescence intensity. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.9 CD69 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-CD40/IL-4-stimulated B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4 h. Cells were then stimulated with 5 μ g/ml anti-CD40 and 5ng/ml IL4. After 24 h, cells were stained with fluorochrome labeled anti-CD69 and CD69 expression was measured using flow cytometry (solid black line). The shaded area is the isotype control. The inserted numbers indicate median fluorescence intensity. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.10 CD23 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-CD40/IL-4-stimulated B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4h. Cells were then stimulated with 5 μ g/ml anti-CD40 and 5 ng/ml IL4. After 24 h, cells were stained with fluorochrome labeled anti-CD23 and CD23 expression was measured using flow cytometry (solid black line). The shaded area is the isotype control. The inserted numbers indicate median fluorescence intensity. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.11 MHCII expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-CD40/IL-4-stimulated B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4h. Cells were then stimulated with 5 μ g/ml anti-CD40 and 5ng/ml IL4. After 24 h, cells were stained with fluorochrome labeled anti-MHCII and MHCII expression was measured using flow cytometry (solid black line). The shaded area is the isotype control. The inserted numbers indicate median fluorescence intensity. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.

3.5 Activation markers on anti-IgM stimulated, toxin-treated B lymphocytes are altered.

To determine the effects of EdTx and LeTx on B cell receptor (BCR)-mediated B lymphocyte activation, naïve B cells were exposed to 2.5 µg/ml of PA and 1.0 µg/ml of EF, LF, or both and incubated for 4 h. Cells were then stimulated with 5 µg/ml of anti-IgM. Surface expression of activation markers was measured by staining cells with fluorochrome-labeled antibodies to CD86, CD69, CD23 and MHCII and cells were analyzed on a flow cytometer. Cells were gated on forward- and side-scatter to eliminate dead cells and cell debris. EdTx caused an increase in CD86 surface expression while LeTx impaired CD86 surface expression (Figure 3.12). CD69 expression was not affected by either EdTx or LeTx (Figure 3.13). EdTx caused a decrease in CD23 expression, while LeTx had no effect (Figure 3.14). Both EdTx and LeTx resulted in a decrease in MHCII expression in BCR-stimulated B cells (Figure 3.15).



Figure 3.12 CD86 expression on toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice, and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4 h. Cells were then stimulated with 5 μ g/ml anti-IgM. After 24h, cells were stained with fluorochrome labeled anti-CD86 and CD86 surface expression was measured using flow cytometry (solid black line). The shaded area is the isotype control. The inserted numbers indicate median fluorescence intensity. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.13 CD69 expression on anthrax toxin treated anti-IgM stimulated B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4 h. Cells were then stimulated with 5 μ g/ml anti-IgM. After 24h, cells were stained with fluorochrome labeled anti-CD69 and CD69 surface expression was measured using flow cytometry (solid black line). The shaded area is the isotype control. The inserted numbers indicate median fluorescence intensity. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.14 CD23 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4 h. Cells were then stimulated with 5 μ g/ml anti-IgM. After 24 h, cells were stained with fluorochrome labeled anti-CD23 and CD23 surface expression was measured using flow cytometry (solid black line). The shaded area is the isotype control. The inserted numbers indicate median fluorescence intensity. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.15 MHCII expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4h. Cells were then stimulated with 5 μ g/ml anti-IgM. After 24h, cells were stained with fluorochrome labeled anti-MHCII and MHCII surface expression was measured using flow cytometry (solid black line). The shaded area is the isotype control. The inserted numbers indicate median fluorescence intensity. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.

3.6 Activation markers on LPS-stimulated, toxin-treated B lymphocytes are altered.

To determine the effects of EdTx and LeTx on TLR4-mediated B lymphocyte activation, naïve B cells were exposed to 2.5µg/ml of PA and 1.0µg/ml of EF, LF or both and incubated for 4 h. Cells were then stimulated with 25 µg/ml of LPS for 24 h. Surface expression of activation markers was measured by staining cells with fluorochrome-labeled antibodies to CD86, CD69, CD23, and MHCII, and the cells were analyzed on a flow cytometer. Cells were gated on forward- and side-scatter to eliminate dead cells and cell debris. EdTx treatment resulted in an increase in CD86-surface expression while LeTx impaired it (Figure 3.16). EdTx treatment had no effect on CD69 expression, while LeTx treatment resulted in decreased expression (Figure 3.17). CD23 expression was not affected by either toxin (Figure 3.18). EdTx had no effect on MHCII expression while LeTx impaired it (Figure 3.19).



Figure 3.16 CD86 expression on toxin-treated LPS-stimulated B lymphocyte. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4 h. Cells were then stimulated with 25 μ g/ml LPS. After 24h, cells were stained with fluorochrome-labeled anti-CD86 and CD86 surface expression was measured using flow cytometry (solid black line). The shaded area is the isotype control. The inserted numbers indicate median fluorescence intensity. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.17 CD69 expression on anthrax toxin-treated LPS-stimulated B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4 h. The cells were then stimulated with 25 μ g/ml LPS. After 24 h, cells were stained with fluorochrome-labeled anti-CD69, and CD69 surface expression was measured using flow cytometry (solid black line). The shaded area is the isotype control. The inserted numbers indicate median fluorescence intensity. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.18 CD23 expression on anthrax toxin-treated LPS-stimulated B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4h. Cells were then stimulated with 25 μ g/ml LPS. After 24 h, cells were stained with fluorochrome-labeled anti-CD23 and CD23 surface expression was measured using flow cytometry (solid black line). The shaded area is the isotype control. The inserted numbers indicate median fluorescence intensity. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.19 MHCII expression on anthrax toxin-treated LPS-stimulated B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4 h. Cells were then stimulated with 25 μ g/ml LPS. After 24 h, cells were stained with fluorochrome labeled anti-MHCII and MHCII surface expression was measured using flow cytometry (solid black line). The shaded area is the isotype control. The inserted numbers indicate median fluorescence intensity. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.

3.7 Anthrax edema toxin but not LeTx inhibits B cell migration.

To determine the effects of anthrax toxins on B cell migration, B lymphocytes were collected and treated with the anthrax toxins for 4 h. Complete B cell media with or without chemokines MIP-3 β or BCA-1, 500ng/ml and 1000ng/ml respectively, was added to the lower well of a transwell chamber and toxin-treated or control cells were added to the upper wells, and incubated for 3 h at 37°C with 5% CO₂. The cells in the lower chamber were then counted using a hemocytometer. EdTx decreased basal migration by 53%, BCA-1-mediated migration by 63% and MIP-3 β -mediated migration 53%, while LeTx had no effect on migration (**Figure 3.20**).



Figure 3.20 Migration of EdTx-treated naïve murine B lymphocytes. Naïve Balb/c B lymphocytes were incubated with EdTx (2.5 ug/ml PA, 1.0 ug/ml EF) for 4 h at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Cells were added to the upper wells of 5 μ m pore transwell migration chambers. The lower wells contained media alone or media with BCA-1 and MIP-3 β . Cells were incubated for 3 h and migrated cells were counted using trypan blue and a hemocytometer. Values are the % of cells added to the upper wells that migrated to the lower wells. The bars represent the mean of two values \pm standard deviation. The data are from one experiment and are representative of three independent experiments. Asterisks denote a statistically significant difference between untreated and EdTx-treated B lymphocytes (p<0.05 by the Student's t-test). To determine whether this impaired migration was due to a change in chemokine receptor expression, treated cells were stained for CCR7 and CXCR5, the receptors for MIP-3 β and BCA-1 respectively. Despite the EdTx-induced decrease in migration towards both chemokines, EdTx-treated cells had an increase in CCR7 expression (**Figure 3.21, 3.22, 3.23, 3.24**), but no effect on CXCR5 expression (**Figure 3.25, 3.26, 3.27, 3.28**).



Figure 3.21 CCR7 expression on toxin-treated naïve B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF or EF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 24h. CCR7 expression was measured using flow cytometry. The numbers indicate % positive. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.22 CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated and anti-CD40/IL-4stimulated B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4 h. Cells were then stimulated with 5 μ g/ml anti-CD40 and 5 ng/ml IL4. After 24h, cells were stained with fluorochrome-labeled anti-CCR7 and CCR7 expression was measured using flow cytometry. The numbers indicate % positive. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.23 CCR7 expression on anthrax toxin-treated, anti-IgM-stimulated B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4 h. Cells were then stimulated with 5 μ g/ml anti-IgM. After 24 h, cells were stained with fluorochrome-labeled anti-CCR7, and CCR7 expression was measured using flow cytometry. The numbers indicate % positive. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.





lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4 h. Cells were then stimulated with 25 μ g/ml LPS. After 24 h, cells were stained with fluorochrome labeled anti-CCR7 and CCR7 expression was measured using flow cytometry. The numbers indicate % positive. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.25 CXCR5 expression in toxin-treated naïve B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 24 h. After 24 h, cells were stained with fluorochrome-labeled anti-CXCR5, and CXCR5 expression was measured using flow cytometry. The numbers indicate % positive. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.26 CXCR5 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-CD40/IL-4-stimulated B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 4 h. Cells were then stimulated with 5 μ g/ml anti-CD40 and 5 ng/ml IL4. After 24 h, cells were stained with fluorochrome-labeled anti-CXCR5, and CXCR5 expression was measured using flow cytometry. The numbers indicate % positive. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.27 CXCR5 expression on anthrax toxin-treated anti-IgM-stimulated B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 µg/ml of PA and 1.0 µg/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO_2 for 4h. Cells were then stimulated with 5µg/ml anti-IgM. After 24 h, cells were stained with fluorochrome-labeled anti-CXCR5, and CXCR5 expression was measured using flow cytometry. The numbers indicate % positive. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 3.28 CXCR5 expression on anthrax toxin-treated LPS stimulated B

lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 4h. Cells were then stimulated with 25 μ g/ml LPS. After 24 h, cells were stained with fluorochrome-labeled anti-CXCR5 and CXCR5 expression was measured using flow cytometry. The numbers indicate % positive. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.

3.8 Anthrax lethal toxin and edema toxin impair proliferation of stimulated B lymphocytes.

To determine the effects of anthrax toxins on B cell proliferation, B lymphocytes were labeled with CFSE, treated with toxins as described, and then stimulated with 5 μ g/ml anti-CD40 and 5 ng/ml IL-4 to induce proliferation. CFSE binds to cellular proteins and is divided equally between each daughter cell resulting in discernable peaks for each round of division. After three days, cells were analyzed with a FACSCanto to determine the proliferative response. At three days, 77.73% of control cells had divided at least once while only 14.82% of LeTx-treated cells had undergone division. This confirms the results previously described by Fang *et al.* using the thymidine incorporation assay. EdTx did not impair proliferation in B cells, but caused a slight increase with 80.75% of the cells undergoing at least one division. Additionally, EdTx resulted in a similar Division index, 1.57 and proliferation index, 1.95 as the untreated control B cells, 1.48 and 1.90 (**Figure 3.29**).



Figure 3.29 Anthrax toxins' effects on B lymphocyte proliferation. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice, labeled with CFSE, treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml LF, EF or EF and LF, and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4 h. Cells were then stimulated with 5 μ g/ml anti-CD40 and 5ng/ml IL4. After 72 h, cell divisions were measured using flow cytometry. The numbers indicate % cells divided. The data are from one experiment and are representative of at least three independent experiments.

3.9 Anthrax edema toxin impairs cytokine secretion in stimulated B lymphocytes.

To determine the effect of anthrax toxins on chemokine and cytokine production by activated B lymphocytes, B cells were collected and treated with EdTx as described for 4 h and stimulated with 5 µg/ml anti-CD40, 5 ng/ml IL4 and 5 µg/ml anti-IgM for 24, 48, or 72 h. MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β in EdTx-treated, activated B lymphocytes was significantly decreased, compared to untreated controls at both 48 and 72 h (p<0.005) (**Fig 3.30**), but not at 24 h (data not shown). MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β in LeTx-treated, activated-B lymphocytes were significantly decreased compared to untreated controls at 72 h (p<0.005) (**Fig 3.30**). IL-6 production in EdTx-treated, activated B lymphocytes was significantly increased over untreated B cells at 48 h and 72 h, but not at 24 h (p<0.005) (**Figure 3.31**). No increase in IL6 production was observed in the LeTx treatment group. IL10 and TNF- α levels were below the detection limits of the assay in all experimental groups.





lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 µg/ml of PA and 1.0 µg/ml EF and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 4 h. Cells were then stimulated with 5 µg/ml anti-CD40 and 5 ng/ml IL4 and 5 µg/ml anti-IgM. After 48 h, supernatants were collected and MIP-1 α (A and B) and MIP-1 β (C and D) measured. The data are expressed as means ± standard deviation of triplicate values and are representative of two independent experiments. Asterisks denote a statistically significant difference between untreated and edema toxin-treated cells (p<0.05 by the Student's t-test).



Figure 3.31 IL6 production in edema toxin-treated stimulated B lymphocytes. Naïve B lymphocytes were isolated from female BALB/c mice and treated with 2.5 μ g/ml of PA and 1.0 μ g/ml EF and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 4 h. Cells were then stimulated with 5 μ g/ml anti-CD40 and 5 ng/ml IL4 and 5 μ g/ml anti-IgM. After 48 h, supernatants were collected and cytokines measured. The data were expressed as means ± standard deviation of triplicate values and were representative of two independent experiments. Asterisks denote a statistically significant difference between untreated and edema toxin treated cells (p<0.05 by the Student's t-test).

EdTx	Unstim	αCD40/IL4	αIgM	LPS
CD86				
CD69	NC	NC	NC	NC
CD23	▼	NC	▼	▼
MHCII		▼	▼	NC
CCR7		NC		
CXCR5		NC		

LeTx	Unstim	αCD40/IL4	αIgM	LPS
CD86	NC	NC	▼	▼
CD69	NC	▼	NC	▼
CD23	▼	▼	NC	▼
MHCII	NC	▼	▼	▼
CCR7				
CXCR5	NC	NC	NC	NC

Table 3.1 Summary of surface expression of activation markers on toxin-treated B lymphocytes. Summary of surface expression results from section 3.3, 3.4, 3.5 and 3.6

	Viability	cAMP	Proliferation	IL-6	Chemokines	Migration
LeTx	N.C.	N/A	-	N.C.	-	N.C.
EdTx	-	+	N.C.	+	-	-

Table 3.2 Summary of toxin effects on B cell function

Chapter 4: Discussion

The anthrax toxins are major virulence factors in the pathogenesis of *B. anthracis* infections, enabling the bacteria to impair and evade the immune system of the host. Previous reports have shown that PA binds to the surface of B lymphocytes, and LeTx cleaves MAPKKs [61]. Fang *et al.* [61] also showed that LeTx impaired B cell proliferation but was not lethal to the cells. Numerous other indicators of B cell function were not assayed in these early studies, and the effect of EdTx on B cell function was ignored completely. To date, no reports of cytotoxicity in any cell type due to EdTx exist in the literature. In this dissertation, we confirm Fang's finding that LeTx does not kill B cells (Figure 3.1). We also demonstrate for the first time that EdTx is cytotoxic to murine B lymphocytes in a dose- and time-dependent manner (Figure 3.2, Figure 3.1). Additionally, the results in this report indicate that both LeTx and EdTx are capable of impairing various B cell functions and altering B cell activation markers.

These findings about the impact of the anthrax toxins on murine B cells are important for understanding the mechanism by which *B. anthracis* evades the immune system. Functional B lymphocytes are needed in order to mount an effective adaptive immune response, in addition to their role in the innate immune response.

In this study, B cell survival was measured using Annexin V and PI staining. Lymphocytes were exposed to LeTx or EdTx for 4-24 h with no change in viability, as
compared with untreated control cells. In contrast, an increase in cytotoxicity in EdTxtreated B lymphocytes was observed beginning at 8 h after treatment.

As expected, cells treated with EdTx, a bacterial adenylyl cyclase, increased intracellular cAMP levels compared to controls. This increase was detectable as early as 1 h after EdTx treatment and peaked 12 h after treatment (Figure 3.3). While EdTx has not been shown to be cytotoxic in other cell types, it has been reported that increases in cAMP induce B cell apoptosis [62]. To determine if the cytotoxic effects observed here were due to apoptosis, EdTx-treated cells were stained with Annexin V and PI with $AnnV^+/PI^+$ cells becoming necrotic, $AnnV^+/PI^-$ cells being apoptotic, and $AnnV^-/PI^-$ cells remaining healthy. In these studies, we observed only a small increase in $AnnV^+/PI^-$ cells at 8 h, indicating that the cytotoxic effects of EdTx on B lymphocytes were not due to apoptosis.

A number of B cell surface markers are up-regulated when B lymphocytes are activated, including CD69, CD86, CD23 and MHCII. All of these surface markers were up-regulated by anti-CD40/IL4 and LPS, while only CD86 and MHCII were up-regulated due to anti-IgM stimulation in untreated control cells. The up-regulation of these markers is important for T cell/B cell interactions and antigen presentation.

While LeTx had no effect on these surface markers in naïve B cells, CD86, important for co-stimulation of T cells, as well as MHC II surface expression, important for antigen presentation, were increased in EdTx-treated naïve B cells (**Figure 3.4 and Figure 3.7**). This apparent enhancement of activation markers on naïve B cells was

unexpected. However, cAMP has been shown to induce CD86 (B7-2) expression in macrophages and B7 expression was shown to be elevated in cAMP-treated B cells and is a possible explanation for the observed CD86 increase in naïve, as well as activated B cells [63]. This could also be due to a decreased susceptibility to the toxic effects of EdTx by cells with a higher initial level of CD86 expression; however, the level of CD86 expression seen in the EdTx-treated cells would seem to be too high for this to be the case. Additionally, CD86 expression was elevated in all EdTx treatment groups regardless of the mode of activation (**Figure 3.4, Figure 3.8, Figure 3.12, and Figure 3.16).** Despite the down regulation of this indicator of B cell activation, we found CD86 to be up-regulated in all EdTx-treated B cells.

MHCII is required for antigen presentation to T cells during B cell-T cell interactions. It has been demonstrated previously that cAMP analogs enhance CD40mediated B cell activation, while impairing BCR-mediated activation [64]. Our results seem to be partially at odds with this observation as EdTx-treated B cells had impaired MHCII expression when stimulated by either anti-CD40/IL4 or anti-IgM (Figure 3.11 and Figure 3.15); however, LeTx impaired all modes of activation-induced MHCII expression (Figure 3.7, Figure 3.11, Figure 3.15 and Figure 3.19). This disturbance in MHCII expression could have dramatic effects on the formation of T cell B cell conjugates. This interaction is needed to induce the appropriate signals such as cytokines and up-regulation of CD40L from the T cell needed for B cell proliferation and differentiation into plasma cells and memory B cells [65]. CD69 is an early activation marker that has been shown to play a pivotal role in the inflammatory response. Cross-linking of CD69 has been shown to promote ERK activation [66]. EdTx had no effect on CD69 expression (Figure 3.5, Figure 3.9, Figure 3.13, and Figure 3.17), while LeTx impaired anti-CD40/IL4-induced CD69 expression (Figure 3.9).

CD23 expression is up-regulated after CD40-receptor stimulation, enhancing T cell - B cell contact, as well as being involved B cell survival in germinal centers [67, 68]. In these studies, we demonstrated that CD23 was impaired by LeTx treatment in anti-CD40/IL-4-stimulated B lymphocytes, possibly impairing important T cell-B cell interactions and disrupting the composition of germinal centers. EdTx was shown to have no effect on anti-CD40/IL4-induced CD23 expression (Figure 3.10). Both toxins resulted in a small decrease in LPS-induced CD23 expression (Figure 3.18).

Migration of B lymphocytes is vital for an effective humoral response following bacterial challenge. In the lymphoid organs, B lymphocytes localize to the B cell follicles due to CXCR5 surface expression and local CXCL13 expression [69]. CCR7mediated migration is required for B cell accumulation in the lymph nodes and migration to the B cell - T cell boundary [70, 71]. Hong *et al.* [72] demonstrated that EdTx inhibited migration of endothelial cells and Paccani [73] showed impaired migration of macrophages and PBMCs that had been treated with LeTx or EdTx. In contrast to Paccani's PBMC findings, we observed that LeTx did not affect B cell migration towards either CXCL13 (BCA-1) or CCL19 (MIP-3β) (**Figure 3.20**). This may be due to

differing experimental design, as Paccani [73] used PBMCs, and the change in migration may be attributed to the non B cell fraction of this population. EdTx, however, resulted in a significant reduction in migration. This decrease in migration is observed in BCA-1and MIP-3β-mediated migration as well as basal migration (Figure 3.20). This impairment of B cell migration was independent of the presence or type of chemokine suggesting that it was not due to a decrease in chemokine receptor expression. We determined this by measuring CCR7 and CXCR5 surface expression on toxin-treated B cells. We observed that CCR7 and CXCR5 expression were not impaired in toxin-treated B lymphocytes, but were, on the contrary, enhanced by EdTx in naïve B cells, as well as anti-IgM- and LPS-stimulated B cells (Figure 3.21, Figure 3.23, Figure 3.24, Figure 3.25, Figure 3.27, and Figure 3.28). Previous reports of migration impairment in the HL-60 cell line showed a decrease in F-actin content in EdTx-treated cells, and it is a possible explanation for the migration impairment observed here.

B cell proliferation is an important step in the humoral immune response allowing for the clonal expansion of antigen-specific B cells. Fang *et al.* [58, 60, 61] demonstrated that B cell proliferation was impaired by LeTx, and Paccani [58] and Comer [60] both observed that T cell proliferation is impaired by both LeTx and EdTx [58, 61]. Here, we observed the same impaired proliferation in LeTx-treated B cells observed by Fang; however, we observed that B cell proliferation was not impaired by EdTx (**Figure 3.29**).

The progression of the B cell response is dependent on B cell - T cell interactions. Antigen-stimulated B lymphocytes have been shown to release important T cell chemotractants, MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β [74]. These chemotractants play an important role in facilitating the B/T interactions that interrupt the B cell receptor-induced cell death program. Further development of high-affinity antibodies and memory B lymphocytes is dependent on the interaction of these B lymphocytes and antigen-specific T cells, as well as follicular dendritic cells. Here, we showed that MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β production by stimulated lymphocytes was impaired by EdTx at 48 and EdTx or LeTx at 72 h (**Figure 3.30**). This could impair the migration of T cells to antigen-stimulated B lymphocytes resulting in the absence of a CD40/CD40L cell interaction, and subsequently, programmed cell death in these B lymphocytes without producing memory B lymphocytes and high-affinity antibodies. It has been shown that survival of Balb/c mice to *B. anthracis* challenge does not result in increased survival to subsequent challenge. This may be due to a possible impairment of memory B cell production caused by the direct disruption of B cell migration by EdTx, as well as the impaired chemokine production by both toxins, or a lack of proliferative response due to LeTx.

IL-6 production in stimulated B cells was enhanced by EdTx treatment at 48 and 72 h, but not by LeTx (Figure 3.31). It has been previously demonstrated that cAMPinducing agents, including EdTx induce IL-6 production in monocytes [75, 76]. Additionally, cAMP has been shown to increase IL-6 gene expression, as well as secretion of biologically active IL-6 [77]. We believe that this increase in IL-6 production is a result of the increase in intracellular cAMP caused by the adenylyl cyclase activity of EdTx. It has been shown that excess IL-6 during infection can impair TNF α production, an important cytokine in the early innate immune response. This

induction of IL-6 by EdTx could cause dysregulation of the early innate response allowing the bacteria a foothold.

The results presented here demonstrate that both anthrax toxins directly inhibit B lymphocyte function. LeTx was shown to impair expression of surface markers normally up-regulated by stimulation. Proliferation as well as chemokine expression was also impaired by LeTx. EdTx also impaired expression of select cell surface markers associated with activation *via* the B cell receptor and T cell interaction *via* the CD40 receptor. Additionally, EdTx impaired both B cell migration and chemokine production. EdTx also induced a significant increase in IL6 production in activated B cells. These findings support the hypothesis that anthrax toxins directly impair B cell function.

The results presented here indicate that the anthrax toxins have the capacity to disrupt the immune response in multiple ways. The receptor-mediated activation of B cells is impaired by the anthrax toxins in a number of ways, which can have far reaching effects on the innate, as well as the adaptive immune response. The inhibitory effects of LeTx and EdTx on B cell function is also of importance in the treatment of *B. anthracis* infection, as well as in vaccine development. The currently licensed vaccine requires an initial dose followed by boosters at 2 and 4 weeks, 6, 12 and 18 months followed by yearly boosters. This cumbersome vaccination schedule as well as manufacturing difficulties can result in inadequate protection if the boosters are not maintained. A study showed that only 30% of vaccinated individuals had detectable antibody levels 18-24 months after vaccination [78]. Infection with toxin producing *B. anthracis* Ames could

result in impairment of memory B cells in vaccinated individuals with waning antibody titers. This could potentially allow the bacterium to overwhelm the host. Additionally, the development of therapeutics such as antibodies designed to block toxin effects are of great interest currently. Identifying these toxin effects further establishes the importance of the development of these treatment modalities.

Chapter 5: Conclusions

In conclusion, our results indicate that both anthrax toxins directly inhibit murine B cell function. This impairment is felt across the spectrum of B cell activities when the effects of both toxins are considered. B cell migration is critical to the formation of B cell - T cell conjugates. This impairment was seen despite the up-regulation of CCR7 in EdTx- and LeTx-treated cells and CXCR5 in EdTx-treated B cells. Additionally, MIP-1a and MIP-1 β were impaired by both toxins potentially affecting the migration of T cells and further compounding the effects seen on B cell migration. When considered with previous works demonstrating the impairment of migration by numerous immune cell types including neutrophils, macrophages and T cells, cell trafficking appears to be a major target of anthrax toxins [50, 73]. IL6 was up-regulated by EdTx in stimulated B cells which could contribute to an imbalance in cytokines altering the inflammatory response. While migration was not impaired in LeTx-treated B cells, we did see a near complete abrogation of proliferation indicating that should B cell - T cell interactions take place, it would likely not result in a subsequent clonal expansion or antibody production. It would seem that the combination of these toxins produced by *B. anthracis* do a remarkable job of impairing B cell functions. Where one toxin fails to have an observed effect, the other toxin seems to compensate to achieve immune suppression.

Additional research is needed to determine the mechanism of EdTx mediated B cell death. Since this is the first report of EdTx-mediated cell death known to the author,

the mechanism that would induce B cell-specific toxicity are of considerable interest. Determining whether the cytotoxic effect of EdTx extends to memory B cells and plasma cells could be important. Additional *in vitro* experiments should be performed to determine whether these toxins inhibit antibody production and class switching and to determine if these effects are seen across mammalian species. The effects of these toxins on B cells *in vivo* are of interest as well. The use of EF⁻ and LF⁻ mutants in an infection model could elucidate the impact of these toxins on B cells during *B. anthracis* infection.

While the underlying mechanism behind these effects has not been defined, the research clearly demonstrates that anthrax toxins have an inhibitory effect on murine B cells. This is in line with the overall body of literature prescribing the effects of anthrax toxins to be primarily immunoevasive. This insight is important in further elucidating the scope of immune evasion wrought by *B. anthracis* and its impact on treatment and vaccine development

REFERENCES

- 1. Mock, M. and A. Fouet, *Anthrax*. Annu Rev Microbiol, 2001. 55: p. 647-671.
- 2. Sternbach, G., *The history of anthrax*. J Emerg Med, 2003. 24(4): p. 463-467.
- 3. Dirckx, J.H., Virgil on anthrax. Am J Dermatopathol, 1981. 3(2): p. 191-195.
- 4. **Metcalfe, N.**, *The history of woolsorters' disease: a Yorkshire beginning with an international future?* Occup Med (Lond), 2004. **54**(7): p. 489-493.
- 5. Zilinskas, R.A., *Iraq's biological weapons. The past as future?* Jama, 1997.
 278(5): p. 418-424.
- 6. Christopher, G.W., T.J. Cieslak, J.A. Pavlin, and E.M. Eitzen, Jr., *Biological warfare*. *A historical perspective*. JAMA, 1997. **278**(5): p. 412-417.
- Meselson, M., J. Guillemin, M. Hugh-Jones, A. Langmuir, I. Popova, A. Shelokov, and O. Yampolskaya, *The Sverdlovsk anthrax outbreak of 1979*. Science, 1994. 266(5188): p. 1202-1208.
- 8. Walker, D.H., O. Yampolska, and L.M. Grinberg, *Death at Sverdlovsk: what have we learned?* Am J Pathol, 1994. **144**(6): p. 1135-1141.
- 9. Spencer, R.C., *Bacillus anthracis*. J Clin Pathol, 2003. 56(3): p. 182-187.
- Jernigan, D.B., P.L. Raghunathan, B.P. Bell, R. Brechner, E.A. Bresnitz, J.C.
 Butler, M. Cetron, M. Cohen, T. Doyle, M. Fischer, C. Greene, K.S. Griffith,
 J. Guarner, J.L. Hadler, J.A. Hayslett, R. Meyer, L.R. Petersen, M. Phillips,
 R. Pinner, T. Popovic, C.P. Quinn, J. Reefhuis, D. Reissman, N. Rosenstein,

A. Schuchat, W.J. Shieh, L. Siegal, D.L. Swerdlow, F.C. Tenover, M.

Traeger, J.W. Ward, I. Weisfuse, S. Wiersma, K. Yeskey, S. Zaki, D.A.

Ashford, B.A. Perkins, S. Ostroff, J. Hughes, D. Fleming, J.P. Koplan, and J.L. Gerberding, *Investigation of bioterrorism-related anthrax, United States, 2001: epidemiologic findings*. Emerg Infect Dis, 2002. **8**(10): p. 1019-1028.

- 11. **Brown, E.R. and W.B. Cherry**, *Specific identification of Bacillus anthracis by means of a variant bacteriophage.* J Infect Dis, 1955. **96**(1): p. 34-349.
- Durrheim, D.N., P. Freeman, I. Roth, and M. Hornitzky, *Epidemiologic questions from anthrax outbreak, Hunter Valley, Australia*. Emerg Infect Dis, 2009. 15(5): p. 840-842.
- Clegg, S.B., P.C. Turnbull, C.M. Foggin, and P.M. Lindeque, Massive outbreak of anthrax in wildlife in the Malilangwe Wildlife Reserve, Zimbabwe. Vet Rec, 2007. 160(4): p. 113-118.
- Parkinson, R., A. Rajic, and C. Jenson, Investigation of an anthrax outbreak in Alberta in 1999 using a geographic information system. Can Vet J, 2003. 44(4):
 p. 315-318.
- Sirisanthana, T., N. Navachareon, P. Tharavichitkul, V. Sirisanthana, and
 A.E. Brown, Outbreak of oral-oropharyngeal anthrax: an unusual manifestation of human infection with Bacillus anthracis. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 1984. 33(1): p. 144-150.
- Turner, M., Anthrax in humans in Zimbabwe. Cent Afr J Med, 1980. 26(7): p. 160-161.

- 17. Harrison, L.H., J.W. Ezzell, T.G. Abshire, S. Kidd, and A.F. Kaufmann, Evaluation of serologic tests for diagnosis of anthrax after an outbreak of cutaneous anthrax in Paraguay. J Infect Dis, 1989. **160**(4): p. 706-710.
- Patra, G., J. Vaissaire, M. Weber-Levy, C. Le Doujet, and M. Mock, Molecular characterization of Bacillus strains involved in outbreaks of anthrax in France in 1997. J Clin Microbiol, 1998. 36(11): p. 3412-3414.
- Tutrone, W.D., N.S. Scheinfeld, and J.M. Weinberg, *Cutaneous anthrax: a concise review*. Cutis, 2002. 69(1): p. 27-33.
- Sirisanthana, T. and A.E. Brown, Anthrax of the gastrointestinal tract. Emerg Infect Dis, 2002. 8(7): p. 649-651.
- Franz, D.R., P.B. Jahrling, D.J. McClain, D.L. Hoover, W.R. Byrne, J.A.
 Pavlin, G.W. Christopher, T.J. Cieslak, A.M. Friedlander, and E.M. Eitzen,
 Jr., Clinical recognition and management of patients exposed to biological
 warfare agents. Clin Lab Med, 2001. 21(3): p. 435-473.
- Bartlett, J.G., T.V. Inglesby, Jr., and L. Borio, Management of anthrax. Clin Infect Dis, 2002. 35(7): p. 851-858.
- Mock, M. and T. Mignot, Anthrax toxins and the host: a story of intimacy. Cell Microbiol, 2003. 5(1): p. 15-23.
- Brook, I., T.B. Elliott, H.I. Pryor, 2nd, T.E. Sautter, B.T. Gnade, J.H.
 Thakar, and G.B. Knudson, *In vitro resistance of Bacillus anthracis Sterne to doxycycline, macrolides and quinolones*. Int J Antimicrob Agents, 2001. 18(6): p. 559-562.

- Guidi-Rontani, C. and M. Mock, *Macrophage interactions*. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 2002. 271: p. 115-141.
- 26. **Drysdale, M., S. Heninger, J. Hutt, Y. Chen, C.R. Lyons, and T.M. Koehler**, *Capsule synthesis by Bacillus anthracis is required for dissemination in murine inhalation anthrax.* EMBO J, 2005. **24**(1): p. 221-227.
- Ezzell, J.W. and S.L. Welkos, *The capsule of bacillus anthracis, a review.* J Appl Microbiol, 1999. 87(2): p. 250.
- 28. Smith, H. and J. Keppie, Observations on experimental anthrax; demonstration of a specific lethal factor produced in vivo by Bacillus anthracis. Nature, 1954.
 173(4410): p. 869-870.
- Bradley, K.A. and J.A. Young, *Anthrax toxin receptor proteins*. Biochem Pharmacol, 2003. 65(3): p. 309-314.
- 30. Scobie, H.M. and J.A. Young, *Interactions between anthrax toxin receptors and protective antigen*. Curr Opin Microbiol, 2005. **8**(1): p. 106-112.
- Klimpel, K.R., S.S. Molloy, G. Thomas, and S.H. Leppla, Anthrax toxin protective antigen is activated by a cell surface protease with the sequence specificity and catalytic properties of furin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1992.
 89(21): p. 10277-10281.
- 32. **Pimental, R.A., K.A. Christensen, B.A. Krantz, and R.J. Collier**, *Anthrax toxin complexes: heptameric protective antigen can bind lethal factor and edema factor simultaneously*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2004. **322**(1): p. 258-262.

- 33. Abrami, L., M. Lindsay, R.G. Parton, S.H. Leppla, and F.G. van der Goot, Membrane insertion of anthrax protective antigen and cytoplasmic delivery of lethal factor occur at different stages of the endocytic pathway. J Cell Biol, 2004.
 166(5): p. 645-651.
- 34. Pellizzari, R., C. Guidi-Rontani, G. Vitale, M. Mock, and C. Montecucco, Anthrax lethal factor cleaves MKK3 in macrophages and inhibits the LPS/IFNgamma-induced release of NO and TNFalpha. FEBS Lett, 1999. 462(1-2): p. 199-204.
- 35. Klimpel, K.R., N. Arora, and S.H. Leppla, Anthrax toxin lethal factor contains a zinc metalloprotease consensus sequence which is required for lethal toxin activity. Mol Microbiol, 1994. **13**(6): p. 1093-1100.
- 36. Vitale, G., R. Pellizzari, C. Recchi, G. Napolitani, M. Mock, and C. Montecucco, Anthrax lethal factor cleaves the N-terminus of MAPKKs and induces tyrosine/threonine phosphorylation of MAPKs in cultured macrophages. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1998. 248(3): p. 706-711.
- 37. Duesbery, N.S., C.P. Webb, S.H. Leppla, V.M. Gordon, K.R. Klimpel, T.D. Copeland, N.G. Ahn, M.K. Oskarsson, K. Fukasawa, K.D. Paull, and G.F. Vande Woude, *Proteolytic inactivation of MAP-kinase-kinase by anthrax lethal factor*. Science, 1998. 280(5364): p. 734-737.
- Leppla, S.H., Anthrax toxin edema factor: a bacterial adenylate cyclase that increases cyclic AMP concentrations of eukaryotic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1982. 79(10): p. 3162-3166.

- Friedlander, A.M., R. Bhatnagar, S.H. Leppla, L. Johnson, and Y. Singh, Characterization of macrophage sensitivity and resistance to anthrax lethal toxin. Infect Immun, 1993. 61(1): p. 245-252.
- 40. Park, J.M., F.R. Greten, Z.W. Li, and M. Karin, Macrophage apoptosis by anthrax lethal factor through p38 MAP kinase inhibition. Science, 2002.
 297(5589): p. 2048-2051.
- 41. Boyden, E.D. and W.F. Dietrich, *Nalp1b controls mouse macrophage susceptibility to anthrax lethal toxin.* Nat Genet, 2006. **38**(2): p. 240-244.
- Bergman, N.H., K.D. Passalacqua, R. Gaspard, L.M. Shetron-Rama, J.
 Quackenbush, and P.C. Hanna, Murine macrophage transcriptional responses to Bacillus anthracis infection and intoxication. Infect Immun, 2005. 73(2): p. 1069-1080.
- 43. Comer, J.E., C.L. Galindo, F. Zhang, A.M. Wenglikowski, K.L. Bush, H.R.
 Garner, J.W. Peterson, and A.K. Chopra, Murine macrophage transcriptional and functional responses to Bacillus anthracis edema toxin. Microb Pathog, 2006.
 41(2-3): p. 96-110.
- 44. Cui, X., Y. Li, X. Li, M. Haley, M. Moayeri, Y. Fitz, S.H. Leppla, and P.Q.
 Eichacker, Sublethal doses of Bacillus anthracis lethal toxin inhibit inflammation with lipopolysaccharide and Escherichia coli challenge but have opposite effects on survival. J Infect Dis, 2006. 193(6): p. 829-840.

- 45. Dang, O., L. Navarro, K. Anderson, and M. David, Cutting edge: anthrax lethal toxin inhibits activation of IFN-regulatory factor 3 by lipopolysaccharide. J Immunol, 2004. 172(2): p. 747-751.
- 46. Park, J.M., F.R. Greten, A. Wong, R.J. Westrick, J.S. Arthur, K. Otsu, A. Hoffmann, M. Montminy, and M. Karin, Signaling pathways and genes that inhibit pathogen-induced macrophage apoptosis--CREB and NF-kappaB as key regulators. Immunity, 2005. 23(3): p. 319-329.
- 47. Rossi Paccani, S., F. Tonello, L. Patrussi, N. Capitani, M. Simonato, C.
 Montecucco, and C.T. Baldari, *Anthrax toxins inhibit immune cell chemotaxis* by perturbing chemokine receptor signalling. Cell Microbiol, 2007. 9(4): p. 924-929.
- 48. Yeager, L.A., A.K. Chopra, and J.W. Peterson, *Bacillus anthracis edema toxin suppresses human macrophage phagocytosis and cytoskeletal remodeling via the protein kinase A and exchange protein activated by cyclic AMP pathways*. Infect Immun, 2009. **77**(6): p. 2530-2543.
- Wright, G.G. and G.L. Mandell, Anthrax toxin blocks priming of neutrophils by lipopolysaccharide and by muramyl dipeptide. J Exp Med, 1986. 164(5): p. 1700-1709.
- During, R.L., W. Li, B. Hao, J.M. Koenig, D.S. Stephens, C.P. Quinn, and
 F.S. Southwick, Anthrax lethal toxin paralyzes neutrophil actin-based motility. J Infect Dis, 2005. 192(5): p. 837-845.

- O'Brien, J., A. Friedlander, T. Dreier, J. Ezzell, and S. Leppla, *Effects of anthrax toxin components on human neutrophils*. Infect Immun, 1985. 47(1): p. 306-310.
- 52. Reig, N., A. Jiang, R. Couture, F.S. Sutterwala, Y. Ogura, R.A. Flavell, I.
 Mellman, and F.G. van der Goot, Maturation modulates caspase-1-independent responses of dendritic cells to Anthrax lethal toxin. Cell Microbiol, 2008. 10(5):
 p. 1190-1207.
- 53. Alileche, A., E.R. Serfass, S.M. Muehlbauer, S.A. Porcelli, and J. Brojatsch, Anthrax lethal toxin-mediated killing of human and murine dendritic cells impairs the adaptive immune response. PLoS Pathog, 2005. 1(2): p. e19.
- 54. Agrawal, A., J. Lingappa, S.H. Leppla, S. Agrawal, A. Jabbar, C. Quinn, and
 B. Pulendran, *Impairment of dendritic cells and adaptive immunity by anthrax lethal toxin*. Nature, 2003. 424(6946): p. 329-334.
- 55. Brittingham, K.C., G. Ruthel, R.G. Panchal, C.L. Fuller, W.J. Ribot, T.A. Hoover, H.A. Young, A.O. Anderson, and S. Bavari, *Dendritic cells* endocytose Bacillus anthracis spores: implications for anthrax pathogenesis. J Immunol, 2005. 174(9): p. 5545-5552.
- 56. Hahn, A.C., C.R. Lyons, and M.F. Lipscomb, *Effect of Bacillus anthracis* virulence factors on human dendritic cell activation. Hum Immunol, 2008. 69(9):
 p. 552-561.
- 57. Tournier, J.N., A. Quesnel-Hellmann, J. Mathieu, C. Montecucco, W.J. Tang, M. Mock, D.R. Vidal, and P.L. Goossens, *Anthrax edema toxin*

cooperates with lethal toxin to impair cytokine secretion during infection of dendritic cells. J Immunol, 2005. **174**(8): p. 4934-4941.

- 58. Paccani, S.R., F. Tonello, R. Ghittoni, M. Natale, L. Muraro, M.M. D'Elios,
 W.J. Tang, C. Montecucco, and C.T. Baldari, *Anthrax toxins suppress T* lymphocyte activation by disrupting antigen receptor signaling. J Exp Med, 2005.
 201(3): p. 325-331.
- 59. Fang, H., R. Cordoba-Rodriguez, C.S. Lankford, and D.M. Frucht, Anthrax lethal toxin blocks MAPK kinase-dependent IL-2 production in CD4+ T cells. J Immunol, 2005. 174(8): p. 4966-4971.
- Comer, J.E., A.K. Chopra, J.W. Peterson, and R. Konig, Direct inhibition of *T-lymphocyte activation by anthrax toxins in vivo*. Infect Immun, 2005. 73(12): p. 8275-81.
- 61. Fang, H., L. Xu, T.Y. Chen, J.M. Cyr, and D.M. Frucht, *Anthrax lethal toxin has direct and potent inhibitory effects on B cell proliferation and immunoglobulin production.* J Immunol, 2006. **176**(10): p. 6155-6161.
- Lomo, J., H.K. Blomhoff, K. Beiske, T. Stokke, and E.B. Smeland, *TGF-beta 1 and cyclic AMP promote apoptosis in resting human B lymphocytes*. J Immunol, 1995. 154(4): p. 1634-1643.
- 63. Orlikowsky, T.W., G.E. Dannecker, B. Spring, M. Eichner, M.K. Hoffmann, and C.F. Poets, *Effect of dexamethasone on B7 regulation and T cell activation in neonates and adults.* Pediatr Res, 2005. **57**(5 Pt 1): p. 656-661.

- 64. Wortis, H.H., M. Teutsch, M. Higer, J. Zheng, and D.C. Parker, *B-cell* activation by crosslinking of surface IgM or ligation of CD40 involves alternative signal pathways and results in different *B-cell phenotypes*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1995. 92(8): p. 3348-3352.
- 65. Kindt, T.J., R.A. Goldsby, B.A. Osborne, and J. Kuby, *Kuby immunology*. 6th ed. 2007, New York: W.H. Freeman. xxii, 574, A-31, G-12, AN-27, I-27 p.
- 66. Zingoni, A., G. Palmieri, S. Morrone, M. Carretero, M. Lopez-Botel, M. Piccoli, L. Frati, and A. Santoni, CD69-triggered ERK activation and functions are negatively regulated by CD94 / NKG2-A inhibitory receptor. Eur J Immunol, 2000. 30(2): p. 644-651.
- 67. Bonnefoy, J.Y., S. Lecoanet-Henchoz, J.P. Aubry, J.F. Gauchat, and P.
 Graber, *CD23 and B-cell activation*. Curr Opin Immunol, 1995. 7(3): p. 355-359.
- 68. **Bjorck, P., C. Elenstrom-Magnusson, A. Rosen, E. Severinson, and S. Paulie**, *CD23 and CD21 function as adhesion molecules in homotypic aggregation of human B lymphocytes.* Eur J Immunol, 1993. **23**(8): p. 1771-1775.
- 69. Okada, T. and J.G. Cyster, *B cell migration and interactions in the early phase of antibody responses*. Curr Opin Immunol, 2006. **18**(3): p. 278-285.
- Reif, K., E.H. Ekland, L. Ohl, H. Nakano, M. Lipp, R. Forster, and J.G.
 Cyster, Balanced responsiveness to chemoattractants from adjacent zones determines B-cell position. Nature, 2002. 416(6876): p. 94-99.

- 71. Okada, T., V.N. Ngo, E.H. Ekland, R. Forster, M. Lipp, D.R. Littman, and J.G. Cyster, *Chemokine requirements for B cell entry to lymph nodes and Peyer's patches*. J Exp Med, 2002. **196**(1): p. 65-75.
- Hong, J., R.C. Doebele, M.W. Lingen, L.A. Quilliam, W.J. Tang, and M.R.
 Rosner, Anthrax edema toxin inhibits endothelial cell chemotaxis via Epac and Rap1. J Biol Chem, 2007. 282(27): p. 19781-19787.
- Paccani, S., F. Tonello, L. Patrussi, N. Capitani, M. Simonato, C.
 Montecucco, and C.T. Baldari, *Anthrax toxins inhibit immune cell chemotaxis by perturbing chemokine receptor signalling*. Cell Microbiol, 2007. 9(4): p. 924-929.
- 74. Krzysiek, R., E.A. Lefevre, W. Zou, A. Foussat, J. Bernard, A. Portier, P. Galanaud, and Y. Richard, Antigen receptor engagement selectively induces macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha (MIP-1 alpha) and MIP-1 beta chemokine production in human B cells. J Immunol, 1999. 162(8): p. 4455-4463.
- 75. Hoover, D.L., A.M. Friedlander, L.C. Rogers, I.K. Yoon, R.L. Warren, and A.S. Cross, Anthrax edema toxin differentially regulates lipopolysaccharideinduced monocyte production of tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-6 by increasing intracellular cyclic AMP. Infect Immun, 1994. **62**(10): p. 4432-4439.
- 76. **Bailly, S., B. Ferrua, M. Fay, and M.A. Gougerot-Pocidalo**, *Differential regulation of IL 6, IL 1 A, IL 1 beta and TNF alpha production in LPS-stimulated human monocytes: role of cyclic AMP*. Cytokine, 1990. **2**(3): p. 205-210.

- 77. Zhang, Y., J.X. Lin, and J. Vilcek, Synthesis of interleukin 6 (interferon-beta 2/B cell stimulatory factor 2) in human fibroblasts is triggered by an increase in intracellular cyclic AMP. J Biol Chem, 1988. 263(13): p. 6177-6182.
- 78. Pittman, P.R., D. Hack, J. Mangiafico, P. Gibbs, K.T. McKee, Jr., A.M. Friedlander, and M.H. Sjogren, Antibody response to a delayed booster dose of anthrax vaccine and botulinum toxoid. Vaccine, 2002. 20(16): p. 2107-2115.

VITA

Bryan Thomas Gnade, M.S., was born July 2, 1974 in Des Moines, Iowa. Bryan graduated from Marcus High School, Flower Mound, Texas in 1992. He earned a Bachelor of Science in microbiology in 1997 from Texas Tech University in Lubbock, Texas. He then earned a Master of Science degree in microbiology in 1999 for his thesis titled Polymannan enhancement of macrophage function. In 2001 he received his commission in The United States Army as a 1st Lieutenant in the Medical Service Corps where he has progressed to the rank of Major.

Permanent address: 1502 Winnie APT #1, Galveston, Texas, 77550 This dissertation was typed by Bryan Thomas Gnade>.

PUBLICATIONS

Peterson, J.W., Healy, D., Moen, S.T., Pawlik, J.E., Taormina, J., Hardcastle, J.M., Thomas, J.M., Lawrence, W.S., Ponce, C.I., Chatuev, B.M., **Gnade, B.T.**, Foltz, S.M., Agar, S.L., Sha, J., Klimple, G.R., Eaves-Pyles, T., and Chopra, A.K. Evaluation of Protection Afforded by Fluoroquinolones Against Respiratory Infections with *Bacillus anthracis*, *Yersinia pestis*, and *Francisella tularensis*. The Open Microbiology Journal. In Press.

Thomas, J.M., Moen, S.T., **Gnade, B.T.**, Vargas-Inchaustegui, D.A., Foltz, S.M., Suarez, G., Heidner H.W., König, R., Chopra, A.K., and J.W. Peterson. Recombinant Sindbis Virus Vectors Designed to Express Protective Antigen of *Bacillus anthracis* Protect Animals from Anthrax and Display Synergy with Ciprofloxacin. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 16(11):1696-9 2009.

Brook, I., Elliot, T., Pryor, H., Sautter, T., **Gnade, B**., Thaker, J. and G. Knudson. 2001. *In vitro* resistance of Bacillus anthracis Sterne to doxycycline, macrolides and quinolones. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 18:559-62.

Lefkowitz, D., Stuart, R., **Gnade, B.**, Roberts, E., Lefkowitz, S.. <u>Effects of glyconutrient</u> on Macrophage Function. *Int J Immunopharmacol* 2000 Apr 1;22(4):299-308.